2015

**State of Utah, Plaintiff/Petitioner, v. Manuel Antonio Lujan,  
Defendant/Respondent**

Utah Supreme Court

**STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION**

This case is before the Court on a writ of certiorari to the Utah Court of Appeals in *State v. Lujan*, 2015 UT App 199 (Addendum A). The Supreme Court has jurisdiction under Utah Code Ann. § 78A-3-102(5) (West 2009).

**INTRODUCTION**

Kendall Oney couldn't sleep and was sitting in the driver's seat of his car at 3:30 in the morning when Defendant opened the door and squatted down, putting his exposed face mere inches away from Oney's face. Defendant looked directly at Oney and said, "Why you following me?" The dome light and the dashboard lights illuminated the pair as they looked at each other. After several seconds, Defendant stood and reached toward what Oney believed to be a weapon tucked in his waistband. Oney slowly

stood, putting the two once again face-to-face for several more seconds in an area lit by two street lights, a porch light, a flood light, and the car's headlights. Oney spoke calmly and watched Defendant while at the same time moving slowly around both Defendant and the car before bolting for his house. Defendant then stole Oney's car. Oney immediately called police with a description of Defendant: a Hispanic male, about 5'10", 180 pounds, with long hair, and wearing a black leather jacket and a black beanie.

Within 20 minutes of Oney's early morning call, officers had: followed a leak from Oney's driveway to the stolen car parked next to a walkway that led to an elementary school; established a containment area and a visible police presence; followed a canine from the car near the school; discovered Defendant curled up inside a component of the school's exterior air conditioning unit; and obtained Oney's positive identification of Defendant. Defendant matched the description Oney gave police, including height, weight, build, coloring, ethnicity, and clothing. He had a "scraggly" salt and pepper goatee that had not been mentioned, and he had no hair sticking out from under his beanie. When asked why he was there at the school, Defendant stated, "[S]omebody is following me." Oney thereafter

identified Defendant as one of two familiar individuals at a lineup, then positively identified him at the preliminary hearing and at trial.

### **STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES**

This Court granted certiorari review on the following issues:

1. “Whether the majority of the panel of the Court of Appeals erred in reversing the district court’s denial of Respondent’s motion to suppress eyewitness identification testimony.”

2. “Whether the majority of the panel of the Court of Appeals erred in holding the State was required to demonstrate that any error in admission of the eyewitness identification was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt, and whether it erred in concluding the admission of that testimony was not harmless.”

*Standard of Review.* On certiorari, this Court reviews decisions of the court of appeals for correctness. *Rahofy v. Steadman*, 2012 UT 70, ¶7, 289 P.3d 534.

### **CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS, STATUTES, AND RULES**

The following constitutional provision is reproduced in Addendum

B: Utah Const. art. I § 12.



## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

### A. Summary of facts.

#### *Defendant's encounter with the victim – "Why you following me?"*

Forty-year-old Kendall Oney was an amateur astronomer, familiar with late-night and early-morning stargazing and used to getting up in the very early morning. R357:15-18. So when he found himself unable to sleep around 3:30 a.m. on November 25, 2012, he got out of bed. R357:15-18, 65. The night was overcast, so he decided to use the time to get his car ready for its annual inspection. R357:16-18, 22, 65.

As he sat in the driver's seat in his driveway checking the starter, gauges, and lights, he came face-to-face with Defendant, who opened the driver's door and squatted next to the seat looking directly at Oney. R357:16-18, 29, 34-35, 74-77. His face was about ten inches from Oney's face, was not obscured by any covering, and was lit by the car's "[f]airly bright" interior lighting, which included both the dome and dashboard lights. R357:17-18, 26, 35, 77. As Oney stared at Defendant's face, Defendant asked, "Why you following me? Why you following me?" R357:18, 35, 77.

Oney initially thought Defendant might want a drink or a ride. R357:18. But after about ten seconds, Defendant stood up, opened his jacket and reached for the handle of something tucked into his waistband.

R357:18, 35-36, 39, 77. The movement left Oney looking directly at Defendant's torso and hands, and upwards at his face. R357:37-38, 78. Oney's surprise turned to fear, and he decided to get back to the house. R357:18-19, 35, 41, 78, 81. He stood up, putting himself face-to-face with an equally-tall Defendant and so close that the men were "almost touching." R357:37-38, 49-50, 101. At the same time, Oney started talking calmly to Defendant, asking what was going on and if he was all right. R357:18-19, 35. For about five seconds, Oney moved slowly around Defendant and the car as he talked, paying special attention to Defendant's face and hands and never losing sight of him. R357:36-38, 40-41, 82. Defendant moved with Oney, ultimately moving into the car's headlights. R357:36, 41, 51.

Oney saw Defendant as he stood up because of illumination from multiple sources:

- the car's headlights (R357:27);
- the porch light by the back door of the house about twenty feet away (R357:29, 67-68; State's Exh. 19);
- a street light at the front of Oney's house about thirty yards away (R357:32-35; State's Exh. 9, 18);
- a street light in the front yard of the house behind Oney's car about thirty-five feet away (R357:33, 69-72; State's Exh. 17);

- a flood light on the house next door to the driveway about forty feet away, which shown on Defendant from behind (R357:30-34; State's Exh. 16); and
- the reflection of the street lights and other lighting off the clouds (R357:18, 26).

The trees were bare, allowing the multiple lighting sources to leave the area "fairly well illuminated." R357:22-23, 26. In fact, the circumstances provided "pretty bright" lighting, allowing Oney to see Defendant and to judge his movements. R357:19, 22, 25-26.

After about five seconds of maneuvering, Oney turned and ran for his house. R357:19, 40-41. He immediately turned on the flood lights on the back of his house, woke up his brother, and stepped back outside in time to watch Defendant squeal away in his car to the end of the driveway before turning north and speeding away. R357:19, 29-30, 42-43, 67-69, 90-91; State's Exh. 13, 14.

*Defendant's capture by police – "[S]omebody is following me."*

Oney called the police and gave a description of the car thief—a Hispanic male, about 5'10", 180 pounds, with long hair, and wearing a black leather jacket and a black beanie. R357:42-44, 50, 83-87, 91; R359:10-12. Officer Shawn Bias responded from nearby within a minute of getting the dispatch. R357:110, 117. While talking with Oney, Bias noticed a trail of liquid on the ground leading from where the car had been parked to the end

of the driveway, then turning north the way Oney's car had gone. R357:45, 119-20. The officer immediately left to follow the trail, which led directly to Oney's abandoned car a few blocks away. R357:46-48, 119-20, 125-32; R359:13; State's Exh. 1. It was stopped at a curb a few blocks from Oney's house in front of a fenced concrete pathway leading to the schoolyard of an elementary school. R357:120-21; State's Exh. 21, 23, 24.

Because no more than ten minutes had passed since Oney's call to police, Bias believed that the suspect could still be nearby. R357:122-23. The location and the officer's years of experience led him to believe that the suspect may have seen the police, abandoned the car, and hid. R357:124. Consequently, the officer called for a K-9 unit to help locate the suspect and for additional officers to set up a containment barrier to prevent his escape. R357:122-23.

Officer Swazo and his dog arrived shortly after, and the dog wasted no time picking up a scent and leading the officers "very strongly" from Oney's car to the nearby pathway, then down the pathway and across the schoolyard toward the school. R357:125-29, 143-44; R359:17. Officer Swazo handled the dog while Officer Bias followed behind him with his flashlight on and gun drawn. R357:128-29. Officer Bias was mere feet into the schoolyard when he heard a noise coming from the direction the dog was

tracking. R357:129, 145; R359:17. It sounded to him like a person jumping a chain link fence. *Id.*

Several portable classrooms—each an individual building—were clustered next to the school building on the path the dog was tracking. R357:128-30, 147; State’s Exh. 27 (showing where classrooms stood before being removed). While Officer Suazo stopped the dog to do a routine safety sweep around the classrooms to ensure no one was hiding there who might ambush them, Officer Bias continued toward the school to follow the noise he had heard, constantly looking around to ensure no one approached them from the school. R357:129, 132-33; R359:17, 26-27. Near the building just beyond the classrooms, he tracked a rustling noise to the heating/air conditioning unit that was against the school wall and surrounded by a 9-foot high chain link fence. R357:129; R359:17; State’s Exhs. 27 & 28 (in Addendum C). He did not yell for help because he did not want to broadcast his location before he was ready. R357:130. Instead, believing someone or something was inside the heating unit, he neared the unit, identified himself, and ordered the person to come out. R357:130, 148; R359:17. Getting no response, he moved to within three feet of the unit and found Defendant “curled into a ball” inside the heating unit. R357:129-30, 132-33, 148-49. Bias repeated his command numerous times, as did the

other uniformed officers who joined him, but Defendant simply made eye contact without complying with the orders. R357:130-33, 149; R359:28-29. The only way in or out was a padlocked gate, suggesting Defendant had scaled the fence. R357:130, 134. No other basis was found for the noise Bias heard and no other people were found. Officers used a bolt cutter on the lock, and Defendant eventually came out. R357:130; R359:18. When the officer asked Defendant why he was hiding, Defendant said, “somebody is following me.” R359:8. He claimed that he had called 911 to get police to help him.

Bias concluded that Defendant matched the description of the car thief “very well”—he appeared to be Hispanic and was wearing a black beanie and a black jacket. R357:136-37, 141-42; R359:18.<sup>1</sup>

### *The first identification*

Within five minutes of Officer Bias’s visit, another officer drove Oney to identify the abandoned car, then to the schoolyard where Oney positively identified Defendant as the man who stole his car. R357:45-47, 49-51, 91-93, 135-36. At the “showup”—held within thirty minutes of the crime—Defendant was the only non-officer present, was in handcuffs, and was

---

<sup>1</sup> A quick search of Defendant revealed no weapons, but a knife was found on him during booking. R359:25-26, 29, 46, 94.

illuminated with police spotlights. R357:49, 93-94; R359:22. However, Oney identified him based on his looks, not the setting. R357:49-50, 94-95, 106-07. Oney testified that Defendant was wearing the black jacket when Oney identified him at the showup. R357:49-50.

**B. Summary of proceedings.**

*The second, third, and fourth identifications*

The State charged Defendant with first-degree-felony aggravated robbery. R1-3. At a lineup four months after Defendant's arrest, Oney selected Defendant (#6) and one of the other men (#8). R357:51-54, 60-62, 95-97; State's Exh. 43 & Def's Exh. 1 (in Addendum C). At trial, he explained that he recognized Defendant's eyes, thought his goatee looked familiar, and knew that he was the robber, but that one of the other men "looked familiar," prompting the dual identification. R357:62-64. Oney thereafter positively identified Defendant at both the preliminary hearing and the trial. R357:20.

*The trial court's ruling*

Before trial, the judge admitted expert testimony from Dr. David Dodd, PhD., concerning the unreliability of eyewitness identification testimony. R89-108, 111-18, 142-44; R221; R356:*passim*. At the same time,

the judge denied Defendant's pre-trial motion to suppress all of Oney's identifications of Defendant. R54-55, 60-88; R356:75-76. The judge ruled:

THE COURT: Based upon what I've heard today, as well as the fact that as I think about five to 7 minutes in this contest - five to 7 -

[DEF CNSL] Seconds.

THE COURT: --seconds, excuse me, in this context, it appears sufficiently enough under a dome light and otherwise darkened area where it's - it's pre-lit to have at least the State in this particular case ... provided sufficiently reliable evidence to suggest that - that identification should not be suppressed and for the other factors that [the prosecutor] has articulated all of which seem to be frankly compelling associated with the identification. [sic] The Court finds that that test associated with sufficiently reliable evidence to support the identification has been met by the State. And the victim in this particular case will be entitled to testify about what it is he identified on that evening.

R356:75-76. The factors articulated by the prosecutor included:

- Oney and the suspect were face-to-face within a foot of each other for 5 to 7 seconds;
- the car's dome light and dashboard lit Defendant's face the entire time;
- Oney kept his eyes on Defendant at all times until Oney reached the front of the car where he turned and bolted for the house;
- Oney's inability to sleep could have resulted from something other than fatigue;
- the car had a fluid leak which led an officer to the abandoned car with its door open;



- a K9 sniffed the car's area and led his handler up the nearby sidewalk path through the schoolyard to the air conditioning unit outside the school;
- an officer heard a fence rattle, followed the noise to the enclosed air conditioning unit, and, using a flashlight, saw an individual inside meeting Oney's general description of the robber, including the ethnicity, general height and weight, black beanie, and black jacket;
- the suspect's first words to Oney were "Are you following me" or "why are you following me," and Defendant's first words to officers when found were "I'm being followed";
- at 4:00 a.m. on a winter morning, Defendant was found within a couple of miles of Oney's home and near the abandoned stolen car;
- Defendant met the suspect's general description;
- it is not reasonably likely that many individuals fitting the suspect's general description would be in the area at that time of day;
- Oney identified Defendant at the school within thirty minutes of the robbery; and
- Dodd explained that even though certain details about an identification could be wrong, it does not necessarily mean that the identification itself is wrong.

R356:70-75.<sup>2</sup>

---

<sup>2</sup> Although the judge did not make express findings of fact regarding the reliability of the identifications, he adopted as "compelling" the prosecutor's articulation of the factors set forth in *State v. Ramirez*, 817 P.2d 774 (Utah 1991). R356:75-76. Accordingly, this Court should assume that the judge found the facts in accord with the prosecutor's argument. *See id.* at 787-88 (where "factual issues are presented to and must be resolved by the trial court but no findings of fact appear in the record, we 'assume that the trier of facts found them in accord with its decision.'" (quoting *Mower v. McCarthy*, 122 Utah 1, 6, 245 P.2d 224, 226 (1952))).

The prosecutor also reminded the court that an expert would guide the jury on weighing each factor. R356:70. Finally, the trial court instructed the jury about factors that may affect an identification's accuracy. R308-11.

### *The defense*

In an effort to undermine the reliability of Oney's eyewitness identification at trial, the defense focused on the differences between Oney's initial description of the robber and Defendant's appearance when he was arrested. Oney initially described the robber as having "long hair" sticking out the bottom of his beanie "maybe an inch," but Defendant had short, almost shaved, hair. R357:85-86; State's Exh. 43. Oney made no mention of facial hair in his initial report and said at the preliminary hearing that he saw no facial hair, but testified at trial that he remembered a goatee and that the goatee was part of the reason he focused on Defendant at the lineup; Defendant sported an untrimmed goatee when arrested. R357:63-64, 87-89, 136-37, 149-50; R359:11-12, 18-19. Officer Bias described it as "long scraggly facial hair." Where Oney consistently maintained that the robber wore a black leather jacket during the robbery and at the arrest site, no jacket was

inventoried when Defendant was booked, and none was produced at trial.<sup>3</sup>  
R357:43, 83-84, 106-07, 118; R359:52-53, 58, 69.

A jury convicted Defendant as charged. R286. Defendant was sentenced and timely appealed to this Court, which transferred the case to the court of appeals. R335-38, 340-41, 348-52.

### *The court of appeals' ruling*

In a split decision, the court of appeals reversed and remanded for a new trial. *See generally State v. Lujan*, 2015 UT App 199. The majority identified the five factors articulated in the 1991 case of *State v. Ramirez*, conducted a simple balancing of some of those factors, and concluded that if “*Ramirez* was an extremely close call, we are confident that here” the testimony was “legally insufficient” to be deemed reliable. *Id.* at ¶¶12-15; *see State v. Ramirez*, 817 P.2d 774, 782-84 (Utah 1991). It based its ruling on (1) the “troublesome” suggestiveness of the showup combined with the racial difference between Defendant and the eyewitness; (2) differences in Oney’s description of the robber the night of the robbery and at trial, especially regarding the length of the robber’s hair and the existence of facial hair; and (3) Oney’s failure to identify only Defendant at the lineup.

---

<sup>3</sup> At least two police officers also remembered Defendant wearing a black jacket when he was arrested early on a winter morning, suggesting that the jacket was later misplaced. R357:141-42; R359:46-47.

*Id.* at ¶¶14-15. The majority ruled the evidence inadmissible, held that the error was not harmless beyond a reasonable doubt, vacated the conviction, and remanded the case for a new trial. *Id.* at ¶19.

Judge Pearce took the polar opposite position in his dissent, finding it impossible to “squint at *Ramirez*’s holding in a way that permits [one] to see how the identification testimony offered in this case is less reliable than the testimony the *Ramirez* court deemed admissible.” *Id.* at ¶21 (Pearce, J., dissenting). Judge Pearce reviewed each *Ramirez* factor, first under *Ramirez*’s facts and then under the facts at hand; he acknowledged the same “concerns” noted by the majority. *Id.* at ¶¶22-30. But, unlike the majority, he determined that, in “almost all respects, the showup involving Defendant in this case was substantially less troublesome than that the *Ramirez* court approved.” *Id.* at ¶21.

Review of the first three factors led Judge Pearce to find that this case fared better than *Ramirez* on each factor. *Id.* at ¶¶24-26 (Pearce, J., dissenting). Only the fourth factor—whether Oney’s identification was made spontaneously and remained consistent—caused Judge Pearce concern. *Id.* at ¶¶27-29. This factor included consideration of the consistency of Oney’s descriptions of the robber. Oney was not fully consistent in his identification of Defendant at the lineup where he identified both

Defendant and another man as the robber, was inconsistent in his description of Defendant's facial hair, and was wrong in claiming Defendant had long hair. *Id.* at ¶29. It was these inconsistencies, the judge explained, that "present the only way in which this matter could be considered a better candidate for reversal than *Ramirez*." *Id.* Ultimately, however, there were a "myriad" of other ways in which the testimony admitted in *Ramirez* was more unreliable than the testimony excluded in this case, prompting Judge Pearce to believe that the discrepancies were insufficient to require reversal under *Ramirez*. *Id.*

Finally, Judge Pearce acknowledged that the showup in this case was "troublesome," as was the showup in *Ramirez*. *Id.* at ¶31. However, where a similar showup did not render the eyewitness testimony in *Ramirez* inadmissible, Judge Pearce found no basis for a different outcome in this case. *Id.*

## SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

**I. Eyewitness identifications.** This Court should clarify its state due process model governing the admissibility of eyewitness identifications. At the outset, the right to due process protects against the miscarriage of justice resulting from state action. Absent police conduct causally related to the identification, there is simply no basis for concluding that any state actor

has deprived a criminal defendant of due process of law. This Court should also clarify that *State v. Ramirez* did not intend to eliminate the conditional two-step approach of the federal model applied in *Neil v. Biggers*.

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