2016

## State of Utah v. Manuel Antonio Lujan : Brief of Respondent on Certiorari Review

Utah Supreme Court

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

Although *Ramirez* labeled its test as “more stringent than[] the federal analysis,” the case law does not suggest that the framework has led to the exclusion of many eyewitness identifications. In fact, in the twenty-five years since *Ramirez*, counsel is aware of no other Utah appellate case declaring an eyewitness identification inadmissible. *Cf. Perry*, 132 S. Ct. at 737 (Sotomayor, J., dissenting) (“The vast majority of eyewitnesses proceed to testify before a jury. To date, *Foster* is the only case in which [the United State Supreme Court has] found a due process violation.”). Despite this Court’s criticism of the suggestive

show-up procedure the police employed in *Ramirez*, the identification was admissible in that case and the police employed the same suggestive show-up procedure in this case. When the majority and the dissent agreed in *Lujan* that “the time may have arrived for the Utah Supreme Court to revisit its holding in *State v. Ramirez*,” it was the admissibility of unreliable identifications like the one deemed admissible in *Ramirez* and the continuing use of unnecessarily suggestive show-up procedures that concerned them. *Lujan*, 2015 UT App 199, ¶¶ 21 (Pearce, J., dissenting), 10 n.1 (majority opinion).

This Court should thus reaffirm that the Utah due process analysis differs from the federal analysis because it focuses on overall reliability, using suggestive government conduct as a factor in the analysis but not a threshold inquiry, the absence of which could prevent the court from fulfilling “its charge as gatekeeper” when it comes to powerful but unreliable eyewitness identifications. *See Ramirez*, 817 P.2d at 778. Utah’s due process analysis allows courts to consider subtly but not intentionally suggestive identification procedures, or suggestive procedures arranged by non-government parties, in combination with the other reliability considerations for a holistic approach that both encourages best practices in identification procedures and guards against wrongful convictions. *See Perry*, 132 S. Ct. at 726 (“A primary aim of excluding identification evidence obtained under unnecessarily suggestive circumstances . . . is to deter law enforcement use of improper lineups, showups, and photo arrays in the first place.”); *see id.* at 738 (Sotomayor, J., dissenting) (“The empirical evidence

demonstrates that eyewitness misidentification is the single greatest cause of wrongful convictions in this country.” (internal quotation marks omitted)); *Ramirez*, 817 P.2d at 779 (“The danger of such an abdication of [the trial court’s gatekeeping] responsibility is particularly serious where the admissibility of an eyewitness identification is concerned because of the probability that such evidence even though thoroughly discredited has a powerful effect on the jury.”).

**III. The admission of the eyewitness identification was not harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.**

The State argues that this Court should apply the harmless beyond a reasonable doubt standard in this case without establishing any precedent. SB 18 (“The standard should remain undecided in this jurisdiction”). This is a change of course, as the State’s petition for certiorari argued that the “issue of whether the burden shifts to the State to prove that a preserved state constitutional error in admission of eyewitness identification testimony is harmless beyond a reasonable doubt is a matter of first impression which should be decided by this Court.” Pet. Cert. 18. And this Court granted the petition to review that question. Add. B.

The court of appeals noted that if “Utah’s approach ‘is certainly as stringent as, if not more stringent than, the federal analysis,’” as explained in *Ramirez*, then “there is no reason to assume our constitution would impose a different [and less stringent] standard of review for those few circumstances where our

constitution is violated but the federal constitution is not.” *Lujan*, 2015 UT App 199, ¶ 16 n.2.

Constitutional errors, including unreliable eyewitness identifications, must be harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. This Court has explained that the standard harmless error analysis “does not govern errors . . . that are constitutional in nature.” *State v. Villarreal*, 889 P.2d 419, 425 (Utah 1995). “Where the error in question amounts to a violation of a defendant’s” constitutional rights, “its harmlessness is to be judged by a higher standard, i.e., reversal is required unless the error is harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.” *Id.* (internal quotation marks omitted). The admission of unreliable eyewitness evidence is a violation of constitutional due process. *Ramirez*, 817 P.2d at 780. Utah courts must “scrutinize” eyewitness identification testimony for “constitutional defects.” *State v. Nelson*, 950 P.2d 940, 944 (Utah Ct. App. 1997) (internal quotation marks omitted). When such defects exist, the State must prove they are harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. *Villarreal*, 889 P.2d at 425.

Federal circuit courts have applied the harmless beyond a reasonable doubt test to eyewitness identification admitted in violation of due process. *E.g.*, *United States v. Stubblefield*, 621 F.2d 980, 983 (9th Cir. 1980); *United States v. Russell*, 532 F.2d 1063, 1068-69 (6th Cir. 1976). “[B]efore a federal constitutional error can be held harmless, the court must be able to declare a belief that it was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.” *Chapman v. California*, 386 U.S. 18, 24 (1967). A violation of due process under the Utah Constitution



should be no less serious to this Court than a violation under the United States Constitution. The U.S. Supreme Court declared that it was its “responsibility to protect” federal constitutional rights “by fashioning the necessary rule.” *Id.* at 21. It is this Court’s responsibility to protect Utah Constitutional rights, and where fairness and reliability under due process are concerned, the harmless beyond a reasonable doubt standard is appropriate. The United States Supreme Court adopted the harmless beyond a reasonable doubt test for certain constitutional errors because although “there are some constitutional rights so basic to a fair trial that their infraction can never be treated as harmless error,” there are some “which in the setting of a particular case are so unimportant and insignificant that they may, consistent with the Federal Constitution, be deemed harmless, not requiring automatic reversal of the conviction.” *Id.* at 22-23.

In *State v. Bullock*, 699 P.2d 753, 756 (Utah 1985), the Utah Supreme Court concluded that an eyewitness identification was admissible under the due process clause and that, furthermore, “the trial court’s denial of the motion to suppress did not affect defendant’s substantial rights” because there was strong evidence of guilt even absent the identification. *Chapman* noted the similarity between the substantial rights test and the harmless beyond a reasonable doubt test: both tests “emphasize[] an intention not to treat as harmless those constitutional errors that ‘affect substantial rights’ of a party.” *Chapman*, 386 U.S. at 24.

Nevertheless, the State argues that *Ramirez*, *Nelson*, and *Clopten* applied the reasonable likelihood of a more favorable result standard.<sup>2</sup> *Ramirez* applied that standard to a different error. The defendant in *Ramirez* “raise[d] several issues on appeal,” first that “the introduction of the eyewitness identification violated his right to due process of law under article I, section 7 of the Utah Constitution and the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution because the identification was unreliable,” and second that he was unconstitutionally stopped without articulable reasonable suspicion. 817 P.2d at 778. The Court never addressed what standard of harmlessness applies to the eyewitness identification issue because the Court concluded that the eyewitness identification was properly admitted. *Id.* at 784.

The Court then addressed the claim that the defendant was illegally stopped. *Id.* at 785. This claim presented the Court with a “difficult problem” because the “trial judge simply refrained from passing on the issue [when defendant raised it] and let the evidence resulting from the stop and seizure go to the jury.” *Id.* at 787. The Court held that it was error for the judge to “permit[] the evidence of the stop and seizure and the fruits of that stop, including the eyewitness identification, in evidence without determining its constitutional admissibility.” *Id.* at 788. And it was this failure, not the admission of an

---

<sup>2</sup> The parties, however, ultimately agree that this Court should employ the harmless beyond a reasonable doubt standard to this case. SB 50-51 (arguing there is “no reason to reach” the issue of the standard for prejudice and “assuming application of the federal standard”). The federal standard is appropriate, but the error was harmful under either standard.

unconstitutionally unreliable eyewitness identification, that the Court deemed harmful under the non-constitutional test. *Id.* *Ramirez* never held or suggested that unconstitutionally admitted eyewitness identification is subject to the same harmlessness test.

Rather, *Ramirez* suggested that a harmless beyond a reasonable doubt standard would have applied if the eyewitness testimony was unconstitutionally unreliable. *Ramirez* held that “[t]he burden of demonstrating the admissibility of the proffered evidence is on the prosecution” and the “defendant is then entitled to a determination by the court of the evidence’s constitutional admissibility.” *Id.* at 778. This language suggests that, when there is an error in the process, the prosecution should bear the burden of proving it was constitutionally harmless.

The State cites *State v. Nelson*, 950 P.2d at 944-45, a court of appeals case that also involved the failure to address an issue instead of the admission of evidence that violated due process. At the suppression hearing for the eyewitness identification, the trial court in *Nelson* “did not make findings as required by Rule 12 of the Utah Rules of Criminal Procedure, did not consider any of the circumstances surrounding the identification in light of the *Ramirez* factors, and did not make a preliminary determination of reliability.” *Id.* at 943-44 (footnote omitted). Similar to the trial court in *Ramirez*’s handling of the stop and seizure motion, the trial court in *Nelson* “sidestepped its gatekeeping responsibility by failing to determine the constitutional admissibility of the eyewitness

identification testimony.” *Id.* at 944. The court of appeals held that the “trial court’s failure to make any findings and failure to make any legal determination as to the constitutional admissibility of the eyewitness identification was error.” *Id.* The court determined that there was a reasonable likelihood of a more favorable result absent the error and remanded for a new trial instead of asking the trial court “to address the admissibility question” and “tempt it to reach a post hoc rationalization for admission of this pivotal evidence.” *Id.* (internal quotation marks omitted). It never held that admitted eyewitness identification evidence was constitutionally unreliable and therefore did not address what the test for prejudice would be in such a case.

Finally, the State cites *State v. Clopten*, 2009 UT 84, ¶ 39, 223 P.3d 1103. SB 50. But the issue in *Clopten* was not whether it was harmful error to admit constitutionally unreliable eyewitness identification; the issue was “whether expert testimony regarding the reliability of eyewitness identification should be presumed admissible when timely requested.” *Id.* ¶ 6. The Court in *Clopten* addressed an evidentiary issue, not a constitutional violation. *Id.* ¶¶ 30-38 (analyzing the admissibility of expert testimony regarding eyewitness identification under Utah Rule of Evidence 702). *Clopten* held the error was harmful and reversed under the standard harmless error analysis and never addressed what standard would apply to unreliable eyewitness identification admitted in violation of constitutional due process. *Id.* ¶¶ 48-49.

The court of appeals correctly concluded that the admission of the eyewitness identification in this case was not harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. *Lujan*, 2015 UT App 199, ¶ 19. Without the identification, “the State loses its strongest evidence against Defendant.” *Id.* As the prosecution noted in closing, “there’s not a whole lot of dispute about what happened. The dispute lies with who did it.” R:362:8. Absent the eyewitness’s confident in-court and show-up identifications, the State did not provide strong evidence of guilt. In fact, the officer who orchestrated the show-up testified that if the eyewitness had not identified Mr. Lujan as the robber, “we would know that he was not our suspect and we would know that we need to continue our search.” R:359:31. The eyewitness described a robber with long hair and an open leather jacket. R:357:85 (testifying that he could “definitely see hair sticking out of the sides of the hat”), 83-84 (describing a leather jacket that “definitely” opened in the front). Mr. Lujan had a goatee, closely shaved hair, and the evidence indicated he had no jacket. R:357:59, 62-69, 75, 137. The State makes much of the officers’ testimony that they also remembered a jacket. SB 12, 37, 42-43, 51. But the officer who testified about clothing storage at the jail was not aware of items ever being misplaced. R:359:62-69, 75. The jury might then question whether the officers’ memories were influenced by the witness’s description. And the loss or destruction of evidence would only further damage the State’s case.

Even after the show-up, the eyewitness was not able to positively identify Mr. Lujan at a lineup; he could indicate only that he thought he recognized Mr.

Lujan and another man. State's Ex. 42. Furthermore, Mr. Lujan's statements to the police denied involvement in the robbery. R:359:8, 32. The police did not recover fingerprints from the inside of the vehicle, and did not attempt to dust the outside or collect DNA evidence. R:359:7.

And, although Mr. Lujan was found relatively near the abandoned vehicle and a K9 officer was employed, the officer who found Mr. Lujan described his inclination to go towards the air conditioning unit as a "gut feeling" based on a rustling noise after he had "split up" with the K9 officer. R:359:17-18. The officer testified that the dog began to pull the handler hard when the officers reached the walkway gate of the school, which was an indication that the dog had "picked up on a track of the person that they are looking for." R:357:128. The State describes the dog's "discernment of a lone scent," SB 51-52, but the State cites no record source for this assertion and the K9 handler did not testify. The dog pulled the officers through the walkway gate. R:357:128. Afterwards, the dog "pull[ed] . . . toward some portable or relocatable classrooms." R:357:128-29. But at that point the officer and the K-9 handler "kind of split our efforts so that [they] wouldn't be ambushed from behind." R:357:129.

When the officer had the gut feeling, he did not "alert the canine handler because [he] didn't want to give [his] position away." R:357:130. The dog did not return until the officer "had a weapon out and pointed" and was giving commands to Mr. Lujan. R:359:28. The officer's "commands seemed to prompt the K-9 officer to come over to [his] location." R:359:28. The court of appeals

therefore did not err when it explained that the dog “pulled officers toward portable classrooms at the elementary school, while other officers veered off from the K9 unit.” *Lujan*, 2015 UT App 199, ¶ 18.

Finally, the State argues that “no one but Defendant was found anywhere in the area,” but there was no evidence that anyone was looking after the police arrested Mr. Lujan. SB 52; *see* R:359:31 (testimony that the police would have continued searching if the witness had not identified Mr. Lujan).

The eyewitness identification was undoubtedly the State’s strongest evidence in this case. The harmless beyond a reasonable doubt standard on appeal compounds the highest standard in the law. It means that this Court must know beyond a reasonable doubt that no juror would have had a reasonable doubt as to Mr. Lujan’s guilt if the State had presented this case without evidence of the show-up or an in-court identification. The court of appeals was correct that “the State’s case is severely weakened” without the identification. *Id.* ¶ 17. This Court should affirm.

#### CONCLUSION

For the reasons above, this Court should affirm the judgment of the Utah Court of Appeals.

SUBMITTED this 15<sup>th</sup> day of July, 2016.

  
\_\_\_\_\_  
NATHALIE S. SKIBINE